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Q 1 Please, could you send us or let us know how to get the complete tender 
specifications form in order to take part in this call for tender?  
I went to the internet address given on TED 
(http://ec.europa.eu/dgs/education_culture/calls/index_en.htm) but I think the 
documents are not published yet. 

A 1 Following your email and after verification, I should like to confirm that the link is 
working properly and that all documents are available on the website. You have to 
click on "Library Management System (LMS)"  (below "Calls for tenders"). 

 

Q 2 Our legal department have reviewed Annex 5 - FRAMEWORK CONTRACT FOR 
SERVICES.  We have a number of exception requests mainly concerning 
Intellectual Property and Ownership.  Should we send such exception requests as 
clarification questions at this stage of the process or should we include them as part 
of our response? 

A 2 If you have clarification questions, please send them to EAC-LIBRARY-
TENDER@ec.europa.eu.  
We would however like to remind you that the invitation to tender stipulates that 
"submission of a tender implies acceptance of all the terms and conditions set out 
in procurement documents and, where appropriate, waiver of the tenderer's own 
general or specific terms and conditions." 
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Q 3 As part of the tender documentation you have supplied the attached spreadsheet for 
the financial offer as annex 4.  The spreadsheet is referring to the metrics for the 
European Commission.  Should we complete one of these per institution based on 
the metrics given in annex 8? 

A 3 Please complete the Annex 4 for the indicative scenario provided in the Excel file 
only. 

 

Q 4 Please could we have more explanation on the following section, in particular the 
stipulation that no individual contract should exceed 10% of the total volume of the 
contract.  Does this refer to the institutions on the list included or it is referring to 
any institutions that might want to join and are not included in the list? 
If it is referring to the institutions included then can I also ask what is meant by the 
total volume of the contract?  Is this referring to the proposed maximum value of 
the contract (EUR 6 000 000)?  i.e. no single contract can be more than EUR 600 
000.? 
 

 

A 4 Thank you for your question concerning the sentence "No other existing institution, 
agency and/or body may join the resulting framework contract if not mentioned in 
the awarding authorities list provided in the Tendering Specifications or should the 
volume of the contract foreseen for the institution, agency or body exceed 10% of 
the total volume of the contract."  This sentence is referring to institutions, agencies 
and/or bodies that might want to join and are not included in the list. 
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Q 5 Please could you provide a definition of “results” as used in the FWC in sections 
I.10.1 and II.13. 

A 5 For the definition of "result", please refer to section I.14. ("Definitions") of the 
annex 5 (Draft Framework Contract). 

 

Q 6 Section 4.1 of the tender specification specifies that “On-site training must be 
provided for all functionality requested by the EU Libraries and offered as part of 
the proposal.”  Can I ask whether it would be acceptable to offer a blended learning 
approach which would include a mixture of on-site and remote web based training? 

A 6 As stated in the tender specifications, on-site training must be provided for all 
functionality requested by the EU Libraries and offered as part of the proposal 
(Tender Specifications > 3.5 Minimum Requirements > 3.5.5 Mandatory Technical 
Requirements > 4. Implementation Project). 
In addition to the on-site training provided during the implementation of the 
project, on-site and/or remote training should also be offered during the 
maintenance and support phase and should be described in the Annex 06 (Award 
Criteria > 13. TRAINING AND DOCUMENTATION). 
On-site training provided during the implementation of the project should appear as 
"One-time costs" in the Financial Offer (Annex 04 > Reference Scenario). 
Additional training services can be mentioned in the same table and/or can be 
described in the price list reference (Annex 04 > Price List). 

 

Q 7 Will you allow us to submit our End User License Agreement as part of the tender? 

A 7 A tender may contain any document that the tenderer considers relevant and useful 
for a better understanding of the tender. 

 

Q 8 (Referencing Section 1.4.3) In our past dealings with the EU, the EU has been 
willing to negotiate terms on specific contracts. We attempt to preserve similar 
terms and language in each contract. We understand that the Union may send the 
Contractor order forms to place an order, however, these contracts and purchase 
orders often contain additional terms to which we cannot agree. We request and 
exception that, if we, in our good faith belief, refuse to sign an order form, such 
refusal will not be considered a breach of the agreement. 

A 8 Article I.4.3. ("Implementation of single FWC") stipulates: "If the contractor 
repeatedly refuses to sign the specific contracts or repeatedly fails to send them 
back on time, the contractor may be considered in breach of its obligations under 
this FWC as set out in Article II.18.1 (c)." 
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Q 9 (Referencing Section I.10 and II.13) We have entered into agreements which 
prohibit transferring any ownership interest to customers. We also cannot grant the 
Union an irrevocable, worldwide, and transferable license. Because the Principal is 
seeking to purchase the Contractor’s SaaS product (e.g., the results referred to in 
the contract), we can only grant the Principal the use of such software. The use of 
such product is not perpetual but will last only for the term of any agreement made 
between the Principal and Contractor. As such, we would like to discuss this 
further and request an exception these sections. 

A 9 Article II.13.2. ("Licensing rights on pre-existing materials") of the draft contract 
(annex 5) stipulates: "Unless provided otherwise in the special conditions, the 
Union does not acquire ownership of pre-existing rights under this FWC." Please 
note that this applies where the Library Management System proposed in the tender 
can be considered as "Pre-existing material", i.e. "any material, document, 
technology or know-how which exists prior to the contractor using it for the 
production of a result in the implementation of the FWC". As indicated in the 
tender specifications, the contracting authority intends to use a "Software as a 
Service" model. In such a model, the software is licensed, which means that the 
contractor should grant the licensee (the contracting authority) the right to use the 
software for the whole duration of the contract. The system itself is not to be 
considered as a part of the "results" mentioned in the draft contract. 

 

Q 10 We have reviewed the Framework Contract for Services and in general we believe 
that this agreement contemplates purchase of goods and is not well suited for 
licensing a next generation, SaaS, cloud based solution service that is the requested 
service for the tender. Could the EC confirm that the clauses which are not suited 
can be altered at a later stage to properly license the software solution (multi-tenant 
cloud service) provided by supplier? 

A 10 We would like to remind you that the invitation to tender stipulates that 
"submission of a tender implies acceptance of all the terms and conditions set out 
in procurement documents and, where appropriate, waiver of the tenderer's own 
general or specific terms and conditions" whereas the draft contract (annex 5) 
stipulates in Article I.10.1. ("Detailed list of modes of exploitation of the results"): 
"The modes of exploitation may be defined in more details in the specific contract." 
 
We would however like to draw your attention to Article II.13.2. ("Licensing rights 
on pre-existing materials") of the draft contract (annex 5), which stipulates the 
following: "Unless provided otherwise in the special conditions, the Union does not 
acquire ownership of pre-existing rights under this FWC." Please note that this 
applies where the Library Management System proposed in the tender can be 
considered as "Pre-existing material", i.e. "any material, document, technology or 
know-how which exists prior to the contractor using it for the production of a result 
in the implementation of the FWC". As indicated in the tender specifications, the 
contracting authority intends to use a "Software as a Service" model. In such a 
model, the software is licensed, which means that the contractor should grant the 
licensee (the contracting authority) the right to use the software for the whole 
duration of the contract. The system itself is not to be considered as a part of the 
"results" mentioned in the draft contract. 
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Q 11 You have highlighted that “submission of a tender implies acceptance of all the 
terms and conditions set out in procurement documents” also that “tenderers must 
declare their acceptance of [the model Framework Contract] and must take it into 
account when drawing up their tender” (page 26 – Tender Specifications). Since 
the FWC takes precedence over any contract established under said FWC, we need 
to know if the contracting authority is willing to negotiate any of the terms within 
the FWC. We have already submitted the requests below. We would need to have 
assurance that we can negotiate those terms in good faith before we are able to 
submit a tender to this procurement. 

A 11 Unfortunately, given the open nature of the procedure, it is not possible to 
"negotiate any of the terms within the FWC". Please refer to our previous answer 
dated 14 October 2016 – our reference Ares(2016)5939813 - and let us know if any 
further clarification is needed. 

 

Q 12 Please can you confirm how many terms does EUROVOC contain ? 

A 12 EUROVOC contains approximately 6 800 concepts or terms. See 
http://eurovoc.europa.eu. 

 

Q 13 Please clarify if we should provide a financial offer/quotation for each of the 10 
libraries, or only for the library of the European Commission? 

A 13 Please complete the Annex 4 for the indicative scenario provided in the Excel file 
only. 
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